III. Assignments of Error 

1. The Berkeley County Circuit Court committed reversible error when it found, in 

its October 3, 2017 Final Order, that the Martinsburg Police Commission's award of 

additional points on competitive examination for promotion to a candidate based on their 

education credentials does not violate the requirements of the Police Civil Service Act, 

W.Va. Code §§ 8-14-6 to -23. 

IV. Statement of the Case 

Comes now Appellants Quentin Burner and Erin Gibbons, to present their Appeal 

from Final Order of the Berkeley County Circuit Court affirming the decision of the 

Martinsburg Police Civil Service Commission (hereinafter "The Commission") on 

February 1,2017 denying Appellants appeal of Final Scores from the December 2016 

Competitive Examination for promotion. (Exhibits A & B). Appellants challenged the 

legality of Rule VII, section two, subsection (b) of the Martinsburg Police Civil Service 

Commission Rules and Regulations, adopted July 1,2000 (Exhibit C, p. 13). Rule 

VII(2)(b), which, without the requisite statutory authority, awards points for education 

credentials to final scores on competitive examinations for promotion. Appellants allege 

the following facts as being true, accurate, and relevant to the case at bar: 

1. On December 10,2016, Corporal Quinton Burner and PFC Erin Gibbons sat 

for competitive examinations for promotion to Sergeant and Corporal, 

respectively. 

2. There were two promotional opportunities to the rank of Sergeant, and one 

promotional opportunity to the rank of Corporal. 



3. Corporal Burner's final score was 76, which was 7.8 points less than the 

highest score, achieved by Corporal Harper, and 6.8 points less than the 

second place score, achieved by Corporal Garcia. 

4. PFC Gibbons' final score was 65.6, which 6.1 points behind the highest score, 

achieved by PFC McGovern. 

5. The candidate with the highest score on the Sergeant examination, Corporal 

Harper, received 8 educational bonus points for his bachelor's degree, 

pursuant to the Rules and Regulation promulgated by the Martinsburg Police 

Commission. The candidate with the second highest score, Corporal Garcia, 

received 10 educational bonus points for his master's degree. 

6. Corporal Burner received only two educational bonus points for education, 

leaving him at a 6 point disadvantage versus Corporal Harper, and an 8 point 

disadvantage against Corporal Garcia on the Sergeant examination. 

7. PFC Gibbons received no educational bonus points at all, while the two 

individuals who outscored him both received 8 educational bonus points for 

their bachelor's degree, leaving him at an 8 point disadvantage. 

8. In both cases, without the addition of these bonus points, Cpl. Burner and PFC 

Gibbons would have finished with a score sufficiently high for promotion. 

9. Both Cpl. Burner and PFC Gibbons requested review of their scores and a 

public hearing, pursuant to WV Code §8-14-13a, with the Martinsburg Police 

Commission. 
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10. On January 27,2017, the Police Commission heard the arguments ofCpl. 

Burner and PFC Gibbons, through counsel, on the legality of awarding bonus 

points for education. 

11. On February 1, 2017, The Police Commission issued their decision, styled In 

Re: Quenton Burner. The Commission, in their decision, wrote that it, "finds 

no basis to deviate from its established rule and modify its prior respective 

awards for educational efforts as a component of experience." (Appendix p. 

13). 

12. On February 15,2017, Appellants filed its Administrative Appeal/Petition for 

Writ of Mandamus in the Berkeley County Circuit Court challenging the 

Commission's decision regarding its award of points for education credentials. 

(Appendix p. 17). 

13. On October 3,2017, The Berkeley County Circuit Court denied Appellants 

Appeal/Petition, and held, in direct contravention of precedent established by 

West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, to affirm the Commission's 

decision on the grounds that the word "experience," in the Police Civil 

Service Act should be read to allow for the inclusion of education credentials. 

(Appendix p. 4) 

Appellants now challenge the decision of the Berkeley County Circuit Court, and 

prays upon this Court for a reversal of the Circuit Court's decision an award of attorney 

fees. 
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v. Summary of Argument 

West Virginia Supreme Court precedent holds unequivocally that The Police Civil 

Service Act, W.Va. Code §§ 8-14-6 to -23 (hereafter "the Act"), is intended as a 

complete and exhaustive list of considerations for promotion, and allows for no 

additional considerations which are not expressly provided for. West Virginia precedent 

and a plain text reading of state statutes demonstrates that criteria for promotion is 

expressly limited to the considerations listed in §8-14-17, none of which refer to or 

involve education credentials. 

At the Circuit Court, the Commission argued that a recent legislative change to 

the statute which replaced the phrase "promotions shall be based on service and 

experience," with "promotions shall be based on experience," necessitates a 

reinterpretation of the statute to include consideration for education, and the Circuit Court 

ultimately agreed. Yet there is nothing in the legislative record nor anything in case 

precedent which would support such a radical reinterpretation of the statute. Thus, the 

Berkeley County Circuit Court made an erroneous interpretation of the Act which 

conflicts not only with clearly established Supreme Court precedent but also with its own 

previous rulings invalidating identical rules based on nearly identical statutory language 

governing promotion criteria within West Virginia sherriffs departments. See Lemaster 

v. Berkeley County Deputy Sheriffs Civil Service Commission and Scott Myers, Civil 

Action No. 11-C-92. (Appendix p. 86). 

Finally, Appellant/Petitioner has a right to an award of reasonable attorney 

fees, given the nature of the case and West Virginia precedent. State law provides for the 

recovery of attorney fees by a successful Appellant/Petitioner in both the statutory appeal 
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framework of the Police Civil Service Act as well as on successful petitions for writs of 

mandamus. Moreover, public policy considerations necessitate the award of attorney fees 

to officers who successfully challenge unlawful promotion/demotion/appointment actions 

of police departments, less the statutory protections afforded to officers be rendered 

empty, toothless statutes by the practical impossibility of these officers retaining counsel 

to pursue their claims. 

VI. Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision 

Appellant/Petitioner requests oral argument, believing it to be necessary, pursuant 

to Rule 18(a), insofar as (a) the parties have not waived oral arguments; (b) the appeal is 

not frivolous; (c) the dispositive issue has not been authoritatively decided; and (d) the 

facts and legal argument would be significantly aided by oral argument. 

Appellant request Oral Argument under Rule 19 because the case involves a 

narrow issue of law that can be adequately argued in the ten minutes per side provided by 

Rule 19 of the West Virginia Court Rules of Appellate Procedure. 

VII. Argument 

Standard of Review 

Questions oflaw are subject to de novo review. Carr v. Hancock, 216 W.Va. 474, 

607 S.E.2d 803 (2004). 

In the Circuit Court, Appellant proceeded dually as both an administrative appeal 

under W.V. Code § 8-14-13 as well as a Petition for Writ of Mandamus. The governing 
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statute for administrative appeals under the Police Civil Service Act, West Virginia Code 

§ 8-14-13a, states that "If any applicant is aggrieved by a decision rendered by the 

commission under this section, such applicant may, within twenty days of the date of the 

commission's decision, seek judicial review thereof in the circuit court of the county 

wherein such municipality is located. Nothing in this section shall be construed as 

depriving such applicant of the right to seek a writ of mandamus to the appropriate court 

within the time specified in this subsection." 

Mandamus lies to control the actions of an administrative body in the exercise of 

its duties when such action is arbitrary or capricious. State ex reI. Board of Educ. of 

Kanawha County v. Dyer, 179 S.E.2d 577,154 W.Va. 840 (W.Va., 1971). A writ of 

mandamus will not issue unless three elements coexist---{l) a clear legal right in the 

petitioner to the relief sought; (2) a legal duty on the part of respondent to do the thing 

which the petitioner seeks to compel; and (3) the absence of another adequate remedy." 

Syi. pt. 2, State ex reI. Kucera v. City of Wheeling, 153 W.Va. 538, 170 S.E.2d 367 

(1969). Mandamus will not be denied because there is another remedy, unless such other 

remedy is equally beneficial, convenient and effective. Syllabus, Point 2, Stowers v. 

Blackburn, 141 W.Va. 328, 90 S.E.2d 277 (W.Va. 1955). 

Appellant argued before the Circuit Court that the primary difference in the 

adjudicatory structure of the two claims lies in the standard for awarding attorneys fees, 

the differences of which shall be discussed in the following arguments. Appellant 

requests that the Court first evaluate this action as an administrative appeal. Then, should 

the Court determine that Appellant is entitled to prevail, but that attorney fees cannot be 
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awarded under the administrative appeal standard, Petitioner posits that the remedy of an 

administrative appeal would no longer be equally convenient, beneficial, and effective, 

per the requirements of Stowers. Thus, should the Court reach an adverse decision in its 

analysis of Petitioner's right to attorney fees under the standards for an Administrative 

Appeal under the Police Civil Service Act, but find that attorney fees should be awarded 

under the standard for Writs of Mandamus, Appellant/Petitioner would then respectfully 

request that the Court convert the action to a Petition for Writ of Mandamus 

A. THE POLICE CIVIL SERVICE ACT IS INTENDED AS A COMPLETE 
AND EXHAUSTIVE LIST OF CONSIDERATIONS FOR PROMOTION, 
AND DOES NOT CONTAIN ANY LANGUAGE WHICH WOULD 
ALLOW EDUCATION TO BE CONSIDERED. 

West Virginia courts have continuously reinforced a presumption of strict statutory 

construction with respect to the promotion requirements in police civil service statutes. 

Daniels v. McCulloch, 168 W.Va. 740, 745 (1981) ("An important principle is that 'the 

[police] civil service statute should be followed as closely as possible in order to carry 

out the intent of the Legislature which enacted it.") (emphasis added); Dougherty v. City 

of Parkersburg, 138 W.Va. 1 (1952) ("[I]t is the legislative intendment of the police civil 

service act [W.Va. Code, 8-14-6 to -23], to provide for a complete and all-inclusive 

system for the appointment, promotion, reduction, removal, and reinstatement of all 

officers (except the chief of police), policemen and other employees of paid police 

departments.") (emphasis added). 

In Martin v. Pugh, 334 S.E.2d 633 (W.Va. 1985), the court reinforced this 

presumption by quoting specific provisions of the Police Civil Service Act which 

explicitly state its exclusive and exhaustive authority. The court writes, 
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Indeed, several sections of the statute itself also provide that the legislative intent 
requires strict compliance with the exclusive process for appointments, etc. For 
example, W.Va. Code 8-14-23, states in paIi: 'it is intended by the civil service 
provisions of this ariicle to furnish a complete and exclusive system for the 
appointment, promotion, reinstatement, removal, discharge, suspension and 
reduction of all members of all paid police depariments subject to the civil 
service provisions of this article.' Another example is W.Va. Code, 8-14-6 ... A 
final example of the necessity for strict compl iance with the statute is ... W.Va. 
Code, 8-14-15 ... 

West Virginia Courts have also made clear that any rules or regulations governing 

or promulgated by police civil service commissions which conflict with the Police Civil 

Service Act (8-14-6 to -23) are void. In Bays v. Police Civil Service Commission. City of 

Charleston, 364 S.E.2d 547, 551 (W.Va. 1987), the court invalidated a number of 

provisions promulgated by the Police Civil Service Commission which they believed 

conflicted with the Police Civil Service Act. In so doing they also emphasized the 

extremely limited and strictly construed powers of municipalities. Said the Court, 

The Couri has held that "[a] police civil service commission created by Ariicle 
5A of Chapter 8 of Code, 1931, as amended [the predecessor to W.Va.Code, 8-
14-6 to -23, currently in effect], has only such jurisdiction and powers as are 
conferred upon it by statute. It has no inherent jurisdiction or powers." Syl. pt. 3, 
State ex reI. City of Huntington v. Lombardo, 149 W.Va. 671 (1965). Accord, 
Spradlingv. Hutchinson, 162 W.Va. 768, 771,253 S.E.2d 371, 374 (1979). 
Accordingly, "[t]here must be strict compliance with the Police Civil Service 
Act, W.Va.Code, 8-14-6 to -23, ... " Syl. pt. 4, in pari, Mariin v. Pugh, 175 W.Va. 
495,334 S.E.2d 633 (1985). These principles are a species of the broader 
principle that a municipality's powers are strictly construed: 

A municipal corporation has only the powers granted to it by the 
legislature, and any such power it possesses must be expressly 
granted or necessarily or fairly implied or essential and 
indispensable. If any reasonable doubt exists as to whether a 
municipal corporation has a power, the power must be denied. 

In Bays, the Court used the language of this line of cases to decide that a municipality's 

police civil service commission did not have the power to make a written examination a 

"screening" examination by requiring an applicant taking the examination to achieve a 

passing score on the same as a condition precedent to further evaluation or 
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promotion. Ibid. The Court cited Gartin v. Fieldler, 129 W.Va. 40 (1946) in noting that 

the Police Civil Service Act "does not provide for a passing grade," before finding that 

therefore none can be established. 

In Morgan v. City of Wheeling, 516 S.E.2d 48 (W.Va. 1999), this Court delineated 

the only factors validly considered for promotions under the Police Civil Service Act, and 

distinguished it from other, non-promotion related criteria for which the act is not 

exclusive. In so doing, the Morgan Court held that "W.Va. Code 8-14-17 expressly 

requires promotions to be based upon merit and fitness as shown by three factors: (1) 

competitive written examination, (2) service, and (3) experience." Id. At 53. The Court 

then elaborated on the exhaustive and exclusive nature of the Act as it pertains to 

promotions, saying: 

The design of the act is to set forth a system for the appointment, promotion, 
reduction, removal and reinstatement of police officers which best ensures that 
these decisions are made according to the comparative merit and fitness of police 
officers and not according to personal or political whim. This design has the dual 
result of protecting the job security of those police officers who are best qualified 
while also guaranteeing that the public is served by police officers of the highest 
merit. Accordingly, this Court's characterization of the act as complete and all
inclusive means that the act prescribes the sole provisions for appointing police 
officers according to merit and fitness. In this regard, the act stands alone. !1 
provides all that is Ilecessarv (or the appoilltmellt alld promotioll oOhe fittest 
applicallts. 

Id. At 53-54. (Emphasis added). 

The Court then went on to distinguish the residency requirement as being unrelated to 

issues of appointing and promoting the fittest applicant. 

In the Circuit Court, Appellees attempted to use the residency requirement issue 

in Morgan for the proposition that "the provisions of the police civil service act. .. are not 
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exclusive." The Circuit Court echoed this argument, at point 8, when it cited the Morgan 

Court's language that "We disagree with the appellant that the provisions of the police 

civil service act exclude all other selection requirements for police offers." However, the 

non-exclusive nature of the Act is in reference to non-promotional considerations only, 

such as the residency requirement, as discussed above, which was the issue in Morgan. 

For context, A full reading of the Morgan Court's arguments regarding the non-exclusive 

elements of the Act are as follows: 

The provisions of the police civil service act, W Va. Code §§ 8-14-6-24, 
which provide for the appointment, promotion, reduction, removal and 
reinstatement of all municipal police officers and other employees of paid 
police departments of Class I and Class II municipal corporations, are not 
exclusive. Therefore, a residency requirement applicable to municipal 
police officers which is enacted by a municipal corporation pursuant to 
W Va. Code § 8-5-11 (1969) is valid. The police civil service act, rather, 
excludes the enactment of only those measures which are inconsistent with 
the express provisions of the act. 

Syllabus Point 2, Monmn v. City of Wheeling, 205 W.Va. 34, 516 S.E.2d 48 (1999). 

By contrast, in the case at bar, promotion of the fittest application is exactly 

what's at issue, and the Morgan Court has unequivocally held that, with regards to 

promotion of the fittest applicants, the Act "stands alone," and "provides all that is 

necessary," and is "complete and all inclusive." As such, we must infer from the Morgan 

decision that promotion considerations are expressly limited to the explicit provisions of 

the Police Civil Service Act. 

Thus, the Morgan case should be read, for our purposes, as establishing two main 

points: 
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1. While the Act may not be exclusive with respect to non-promotional 

considerations regarding employment requirements for municipal police (such 

as residency requirements), the Act is the exclusive and exhaustive authority 

on the criteria to be taken into account for promotions; and 

2. Those criteria, pursuant to 8-14-17, include only: 

a. A competitive written exam; 

b. An officer's service record; and 

c. An officer's experience level. 

From these tenets, it is clear that adding points for things like experience 

level/seniority and service record (commendations, etc.) are valid, whereas adding points 

for any other consideration are invalid. Thus, because none of these criteria have 

anything to do with education levels, any points awarded for education is expressly 

prohibited by the Police Civil Service Act. 

B. THE BERKELEY COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT'S ATTEMPT TO 
SHOEHORN EDUCATION CREDENTIALS UNDER THE EXPERIENCE 
RUBRIC OF THE POLICE CIVIL SERVICE ACT HAS NO BASIS IN 
LAW, AND IN FACT IS DIRECTLY CONTRADICTED BY STATE 
SUPREME COURT PRECEDENT AS WELL AS THE BERKELEY 
COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT'S OWN PRIOR RULINGS. 

The Commission, in its Final Order, claimed that education is included under the 

interpretation of the phrase "experience". The Commission, in its Final Order, wrote, 

"The Commissioners find no basis to deviate from its established rule and modify its 

prior respective awards for educational efforts as a component of experience." (Appendix 

p. 15). The Circuit Court affirmed this interpretation when it said, at point 10, that, "The 
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Court agrees with Respondent that there is a rational basis for considering an officer's 

education level as a component of 'experience' as set forth in the Act. (Appendix p. 10). 

However, not only is there no rational basis or legal precedent in the state to 

support such an assertion, but the Bays Court actually explicitly defined experience in 

direct contradiction to definition propounded by The Commission and the Berkeley 

County Circuit Court's. Said the Court in Bays, 

w Va.. Code, § 8-14-17 [1969, 1986j, see supra note 3, requires promotions 
under the Police Civil Service Act to be based uponll1erit andfitness as shown by 
(1) competitive written examination, (2) service, i.e., peljormance appraisal and 
(3) experience, i.e., seniority. 

Bays, 364 S.E.2d at 551. 

Importantly, the term "i.e.," when used in this context is taken from the Latin id est, 

meaning "that is," or "in other words." This is contrasted against a similar acronym, e.g., 

which means "example given," or "for example." This difference is significant, because 

where "e.g." allows for the subsequent statement to be one of potentially many examples, 

"i.e." means, much more strictly, that what follows is the singular substitute and 

clarifying definition for the preceding clause. Thus, the Bays Court, in using the "i.e." 

language, was unequivocal in its assertion that experience means seniority, rather than 

education. 

Moreover, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has made the same ruling 

with regards to the identical language of the Deputy Sherriff s Act. Said the court,

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