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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Court should uphold the Circuit Court's decision finding that the Martinsburg 

Commission's consideration of an officer's higher education does not conflict with the express 

provisions of the West Virginia Civil Service Act W.Va. Code §§ 8-14-6 though 8-14-24 

(hereinafter "the Act") and as there is a rational basis for considering an officer's education level 

as a component of "experience" as set forth in the Act. The Circuit Court found that in Morgan v. 
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City o/Wheeling, 205 W.Va. 34, 516 S.E.2d 48 (1999) the Supreme Court addressed purpose of 

the Act by holding that "[t]he design of the act is to set forth a system for the appointment, 

promotion, reduction, removal and reinstatement of police officers which best ensures that these 

decisions are made according to the comparative merit and fitness of police officers and not 

according to personal or political whim." Jd. at 40, 54. As such, the Circuit Court found that the 

Commission's consideration of higher education is not directly inconsistent with the express 

provisions of the Act which permits consideration of the officer's "experience." In doing so, the 

Circuit Court correctly determined that "there is nothing in the Act or case law that expressly 

requires police departments to promote solely based upon the results of a written exam and 

quantity of experience without giving any consideration for the quality of the officer's 

experience." App. 11 at ~ 12. 

Further, Appellants' claim for attorney fees must be prohibited as the Commission's 

decision regarding the consideration of higher education within the rubric of experience must be 

upheld. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

This case is one in which the decisional process is likely to be aided by oral argument. 

Oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure is 

appropriate in this case because this appeal involves issues of fundamental public importance. 

The Commission believes that the time set forth in Rule 20 will be sufficient to fully address the 

issues raised herein. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

1. Standard of Review for Administrative Appeals 
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This Court has held that "[a] final order of a police civil service commission based upon a 

finding of fact will not be reversed by a circuit court upon appeal unless it is clearly wrong or is 

based upon a mistake of law." Syl. Pt. 1 of Appeal of Prezkop, 154 W. Va. 759, 179 S.E.2d 331 

(1971). This Court's "review of the circuit court's decision made in view of the [Correctional 

Officers' Civil Service Commission] action is generally de novo. Thus, we review the 

[Correctional Officers' Civil Service Commission] adjudicative decision from the same position 

as the circuit court." In re Queen, 196 W. Va. 442, 446, 473 S.E.2d 483,487 (1996). A circuit 

court's decision "should not be overturned by an appellate court unless it was clearly erroneous, 

arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with the law. Review 

under this standard is narrow and the reviewing court looks to the [Correctional Officers' Civil 

Service Commission] action to detennine whether the record reveals that a substantial and 

rational basis exists for its decision." Id. at Syl. Pt. 1. 

Further, the Supreme Court has held that 

an appellate court may reverse a decision of the Correctional Officers' Civil 
Service Commission as clearly wrong or arbitrary or capricious only if the 
Commission used a misapplication of the law, entirely failed to consider an 
important aspect of the problem, offered an explanation that ran counter to the 
evidence before the Commission, or offered one that was so implausible that it 
could not be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of Commission 
expertise. 

Id. at Syl. Pt. 2. 

2. Standard of Review for \Vrits of Mandamus 

In reviewing final orders rendered by Circuit Court, the Supreme Court applies a three-

part standard of review to such an order: 

In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court, we 
apply a two-prong deferential standard of review. We review the final order and 
the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the 
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circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. 
Questions of law are subject to a de novo review. 

Syl. pt. 2, Walker v. West Virginia Ethics Comm'n, 201 W. Va. 108,492 S.E.2d 167 
(1997). 

The circuit court's award or denial of extraordinary relief in the form of writs of 

mandamus and prohibition are reviewed de novo. "The standard of appellate review of a circuit 

court's order granting relief through the extraordinary writ of mandamus is de novo." Syl. pt. 1, 

Staten v. Dean, 195 W. Va. 57,464 S.E.2d 576 (1995). "The standard of appellate review of a 

circuit court's order granting relief through the extraordinary writ of prohibition is de novo." Syl. 

pt. 1, Martin v. West Virginia Div. of Labor Contractor Licensing Bd., 199 W.Va. 613, 486 

S.E.2d 782 (1997). 

B. The Circuit Court Correctly Found That the Rules and Regulations of the 
Martinsburg Police Civil Service Commission Are Proper Pursuant to the 
Statutory Mandates Under the 'Vest Virginia Civil Service Act, 'V.Va. Code 
§§ 8-14-6 through 8-14-24 

In their sole assignment of error, Petitioners assert that the Circuit Court erred in finding 

that the Commission's award of additional points on a competitive examination for promotion to 

a candidate based on their education credentials does not violate the West Virginia Civil Service 

Act, W.Va. Code §§ 8-14-6 through 8-14-24. See Petitioners' Brief for Appeal at p. 1. The 

Petitioners assert that the Police Civil Service Act is intended to be a complete and exhaustive 

list of considerations and does not contain any language which would allow education to be 

considered. Id. at p. 4. 

In Collins v. City of Bridgeport, 206 W.Va. 467, 474, 525 S.E.2d 658, 665 (1999), the 

Supreme Court of West Virginia found that the crux of the Police Civil Service Act was the 

adoption of standard criteria and procedures to ensure that employment decisions affecting police 
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officers were based on their comparative merit and fitness. The Act is therefore not only 

intended to avoid promotions based on political considerations, but also arbitrary promotion 

decisions. Id. The Supreme Court has also held that while a municipal corporation is not 

authorized to enact selection requirements for its police officers that are contrary to the express 

provisions of the Civil Service Act, said Act only excludes the enactment of measures that are 

inconsistent with its express provisions. Morgan v. City of Wheeling, 205 W.Va. 34, 40, 516 

S.E.2d 48,54 (1999) (emphasis added). 

The position taken by the Petitioners that the Act is a complete and exhaustive list is, in 

fact, inconsistent with the Supreme Court's prior decision in the Morgan case. In Morgan, 

appellant city police officer sought review of a decision from the Circuit Court of Ohio County 

which granted summary judgment to appellees, a city and its police department, and which also 

declared that W.Va. Code § 8-5-11 (1969) permitted municipalities to establish residency 

requirements for municipal employee. Id. The appellate court determined that the residency 

requirement at issue was rationally related to the legitimate government purposes for which it 

was enacted. Id. 

that 

In doing so, Supreme Court of Appeals examined the Police Civil Service and concluded 

[t]he provisions of the police civil service act, W.Va. Code §§ 8-14-6-24, 

which for the appointment, promotion, reduction, removal and 

reinstatement of all municipal police officers and other employees of paid 

police departments of Class I and Class II municipal corporations, are not 
exclusive ... The police civil service act, rather, excludes the enactment of 

only those measures which are inconsistent vvith the express provisions of 

the act. 

Id. at 40, 54 (emphasis added). 
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The Court then clarified its prior holdings regarding the Act by stating: 

We disagree with the appellant that the provisions of the police civil 
service act exclude all other selection requirements for police officers. At 
first glance, the language quoted by the appellant from decisions of this 
Court and the act itself appears to support the appellant's position. Closer 
scrutiny reveals, however, that this is not so. This fact is best understood 
by looking at the pUlpose of the police civil service act. The design of the 
act is to set forth a system for the appointment, promotion, reduction, 
removal and reinstatement of police officers which best ensures that these 
decisions are made according to the comparative merit alld fitness of 
police officers and not according to personal or political whim. This 
design has the dual result of protecting the job security of those police 
officers who are best qualified while also guaranteeing that the public is 
served by police officers of the highest merit. Accordingly, this Court's 
characterization of the act as complete and all-inclusive means that the act 
prescribes the sole provisions for appointing police officers according to 
merit alld fitness. In this regard, the act stands alone. It provides all that is 
necessary for the appointment and promotion of the fittest applicants. 

ld. at 40, 54 (emphasis in original and emphasis added). 

W.Va. Code § 8-14-6, which deals with the qualifications for appointment or promotion 

to positions to paid police departments, states as follows: 

(a) All appointments and promotions to all pOSItIOns in all paid police 
departments of Class I and Class II cities shall be made only according to 
qualifications and fitness to be ascertained by examinations, which, so far as 
practicable, shall be competitive, as hereinafter provided. 

Although the Petitioners repeatedly argue that there must be slavish devotion to a very 

simplistic reading of the Act limiting the promotion criteria to the written examination and years 

of service, the Act itself provides for a more nuanced detennination of the best candidates for 

promotion through the consideration of an applicant's experience. W.Va. Code § 8-14-17, which 

deals with vacancies filled by promotions and eligibility for promotion, states in pertinent part: 

(a) Vacancies in positions in a paid police department of a Class I or Class II city 
shall be filed, so far as practicable, by promotions from among individuals 
holding positions in the next lower grade in the department. 
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(b) Promotions shall be based upon experience and by written competztn'e 
examinations to be provided by the Policemen's Civil Service Commission ... 

(emphasis added). 

West Virginia Legislature had modified the Civil Service Act contained in W.Va. Code § 

8-14-6, et seq. in 2010. The West Virginia Legislature, in its amendment to the Act that became 

effective in 2010, would have been within its power to have simply eliminated the word 

"experience" and utilized the tenn "seniority," as the Petitioners urge this Court to interpret 

"experience" to mean. However, the Legislature instead maintained "experience" without 

adoption of the Supreme Court's definition in Bays v. Police Civil Servo Comm 'n, City of 

Charleston, 178 W.Va. 756, 760, 364 S.E.2d 547, 551 (1987), namely that experience equals 

seniority. Furthennore, the Legislature provided no additional guidance as to the meaning of 

experience as criteria for promotion. As indicated by the Supreme Court in Magnus v. Ashley, 

199 W.Va. 651,487 S.E.2d 309 (1997), "courts must presume that a legislature says in a statute 

what it means and means in a statute what it says there." !d. at 658, 316 (internal quotations and 

citations omitted). Absence of direct legislative direction pursuant to Morgan v. City of 

Wheeling, the Commission is within its power under the Act to set forth rules and regulations 

governing the promotion of police officers. 

Additionally, Eastman v. City of Huntington 222 W.Va. 661, 671 S.E.2d 666 (2008) 

provides invaluable analysis into the issues before the Court. In Eastman, a City of Huntington 

police officer and a City of Huntington firefighter filed a declaratory judgment requesting that 

the City of Huntington residency requirement is void and unenforceable. In examining whether 

municipalities can enact certain requirements which are not specifically provided for in the Act, 

the Eastman Court quoted the holding in Syl. Pt. 2 in the Morgan v. City of Wheeling case which 

states: 
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The provisions of the police civil service act, W.Va. Code §§ 8-14-6-24, which 
provide for the appointment, promotion, reduction, removal and reinstatement of 
all municipal police officers and other employees of paid police departments of 
Class I and Class II municipal corporations, are not exclusive .... The police civil 
service act, rather, excludes the enactment of only those measures which as 
inconsistent with the express provisions of the act. 

Eastham, 222 W.Va. at 666,671 S.E.2d at 671. 

Therefore, in this case, the Commission was within its right to fonnulate its current Rules 

and Regulations. The Rules and Regulations of the Commission are proper pursuant to the 

statutory mandates under the Act as the consideration of higher education is not inconsistent with 

the Act and promotes decisions based upon merit and fitness of applicant as set forth in Morgan. 

C. The Circuit Court Correctly Found That There is Rational Basis for 
Considering Education Under the Rubric of "Experience" as Set Forth in the 
Act. 

After revIewmg the briefs and hearing arguments of counsel, the Circuit Court of 

Berkeley County detennined that there was "rational basis for considering an officer's education 

level as a component of 'experience' as set forth in the Act." App. 10. In doing so, the Circuit 

Court detennined that that 

[there is] ample support for the Respondent's position that officers with a higher 
education tend to possess better analytical and decision-making skills, better 
communication skills, and tend to draft better reports, warrants etc. These skills 
may in tum aid an officer in the overall perfonnance of his or her police work and 
interactions with the public in general. The Court further agrees with the 
Respondent that higher education is a legitimate factor in detennining the best 
candidates for promotion to positions where the officer will train and supervise 
other officers. 

ld. 

Further, the inclusion of educational points is not an "award" as repeatedly asserted by 

the Petitioners. Instead, education is part and parcel of the overall rubric of a candidate's 

promotional score in the candidate's personnel file review. App 67-68, Rules and Regulations. 
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In order to properly consider an officer's merit and fitness for promotion, the Martinsburg Police 

Department and the Commission has to consider the quality, not just quantity, of the officer's 

merit and fitness for promotion. Rule VII of the Commission's Rules and Regulations provides a 

fair, reasonable and rational methodology for the determination of a promotional applicant's 

experience through the points systems earned in the review of the applicant's personnel file. The 

applicant's efficiency in the performance of his or her duties as a police officer under numerous 

factors is evaluated not by the Commission, but by the officer's superior, the Martinsburg Chief 

of Police. The officer's training as a police officer is considered and is also given points. 

Furthennore, commendations earned by the officer through recognition by the City Councilor 

other governmental entity will increase the applicant's point total. Finally, suspensions and 

reprimands within the past five years of the testing will have a negative impact on the applicant's 

overall score. 

These factors all directly facilitate detennination of an applicant's experience level, i.e. 

fitness for promotion. Likewise, the education component of the points available in the 

personnel file review also provides insight into the experience of an applicant. It is without 

question that a police officer's duties involve public interaction, writing of reports, testimony in 

court, and knowledge of state and municipal criminal codes. The consideration of an applicant's 

experience in higher education, a factor that is solely in the control of the applicants themselves, 

is vital in detennining the best candidates for promotion to positions that will train and supervise 

other officers in these duties. There is no question that police work is more challenging and 

complicated today than ever. The Circuit Court recognized that higher education encourages 

individuals to engage in analytical thinking which is beneficial to an officer, the police 

department, and the public. App. 10. The methodology outlined in Rule VII for higher 
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education is not a mere "bonus," thrown in at the end of the promotional scoring, but is a key 

component in assessing the experience level of all the applicants. The methodology promotes 

the merit and fitness policy behind the Act by encouraging officers to obtain more education so 

that they can improve their skills and better serve the Martinsburg community.

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